S196830

SUPREME COURT
FILED

FEB 27 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

OSAMAH EL-ATTAR,
Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

HOLLYWOOD PRESBYTERIAN MEDICAL CENTER,
Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL,
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR
CASE No. B209056

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

DAVID S. ETTINGER (BAR No. 93800)
H. THOMAS WATSON (BAR No. 160277)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
dettinger@horvitzlevy.com
htwatson@horvitzlevy.com

CHRISTENSEN & AUER

JAY D. CHRISTENSEN (BAR No. 65446)
ANNA M. SUDA (BAR No. 199378)

ISSUE PRESENTED

The following issue is presented for review in this matter:

When formal peer review is needed to determine whether a physician is competent to continue practicing in a hospital, may the hospital's governing board initiate the peer review by selecting the medical staff physician reviewers and a hearing officer if the medical staff does not, where the medical staff's bylaws specify the medical staff as the selecting body?

(PFR 1; see Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(2).)

INTRODUCTION

After the governing board of Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center (the Hospital) concluded that Dr. Osamah El-Attar's medical practice threatened both patient safety and the Hospital's continued eligibility for Medicare and Medi-Cal funding, it denied his application for reappointment to its medical staff. The Hospital's medical staff disagreed. Thus, when Dr. El-Attar requested a review hearing of the board's decision, the medical staff leadership — the Medical Executive Committee (MEC) — determined that "it should be the Governing Board and not the MEC which arranges and prosecutes the requested hearing." (9 AR 1890-1891.)

The medical staff's bylaws at the time required the MEC to select the hearing panel members and the hearing officer. But, in light of the MEC's expressed preference to not be involved in the process, the board chose the hearing officer and the physician members of the peer review hearing panel, all of whom met every statutory and bylaw criteria for serving.

Dr. El-Attar twice challenged the selection procedure in superior court, before and after the peer review process that encompassed more than 30 hearings over more than two years and that ended with the board's decision against him being upheld. Both times the court rejected Dr. El-Attar's attacks on the procedure. The Court of Appeal, however, agreed with Dr. El-Attar. It overturned the two-year-plus peer review process solely because the selection of the hearing panel members and hearing officer by the board rather than the MEC violated the bylaws. (*El-Attar v.*

Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 664, typed opn., 12-18 (*El-Attar*.)

This court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision. A per se reversal rule for a bylaw violation is both unprecedented and unwise.

Dr. El-Attar's peer review proceeding violated none of California's peer review statutes, and it complied with established common law fair procedure principles. Dr. El-Attar did not show any actual bias, or circumstances demonstrating a probability of bias, by the hearing officer or panel members. Moreover, entities prosecuting administrative actions commonly select the adjudicators. Indeed, in the typical medical staff peer review proceeding, it is the medical staff's MEC that both recommends adverse action against a physician and selects the members of the hearing panel and the hearing officer, and it then prosecutes the charges before the hearing panel it appoints. It is also significant that the procedures followed for setting up Dr. El-Attar's peer review hearing are precisely what was authorized under the Hospital bylaws as they were revised before Dr. El-Attar's hearing even ended, and the Hospital's revised bylaws are consistent with the procedures recommended in the current model bylaws of the California Hospital Association.

Finally, we show that even if there were a deviation from a peer review statute or fair procedure principle it would be excused by the common law rule of necessity. This court therefore should reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- A. A federal investigation identifies serious deficiencies in the Hospital's peer review process, which threaten the Hospital's eligibility to receive Medicare and other funding it needs to stay in business. The Hospital's governing board and its medical staff disagree about how to respond.**

In July 2002, representatives of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) — the administrator for the federal Medicare and Medi-Cal programs — conducted an unannounced investigation of the Hospital.¹ (21 AR 4478-4479, 4481; 27 AR 5795, 5798; 28 AR 6002; see 8 CT 1718.) The CMS investigation would determine whether the Hospital could continue participating in the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs and continue serving managed healthcare patients. (21 AR 4479; 27 AR 5796; 28 AR 6002.) Without payments from Medicare, Medi-Cal, and managed healthcare providers, the Hospital would lose 90 percent of its funding and could not stay in business. (27 AR 5796-5797; see 21 AR 4480; 8 CT 1718.)

The CMS investigators found deficiencies in the Hospital's state-law-mandated peer review process — the “primary purpose” of

¹ The CMS team also investigated on behalf of the California Department of Health Services (DHS), the state's hospital licensing entity, and the Institute for Medical Quality (IMQ), the state's physician evaluator. (21 AR 4478-4479; see <<http://www.imq.org>> and <<http://www.dhs.ca.gov>> as of February 23, 2012.)

which “is to protect the health and welfare of the people of California by excluding . . . ‘those healing arts practitioners who provide substandard care or who engage in professional misconduct’ ” (*Mileikowsky v. West Hills Hospital & Medical Center* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1259, 1267 (*Mileikowsky*)) — and concluded that the process needed to be restructured. (21 AR 4482-4483; see 27 AR 5793-5794; 8 CT 1718.) In particular, CMS criticized the Hospital’s governing board for failing to adequately oversee the peer review programs. (21 AR 4483; 27 AR 5799; see 21 AR 4474-4477.) In meetings with the Hospital’s administrators and medical staff, the head CMS physician threatened to recommend the Hospital’s removal from the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs unless immediate corrective actions were taken. (27 AR 5798-5799.) The investigator also said he would strongly recommend to Medicare that outside reviews be conducted of the Hospital’s peer review cases. (27 AR 5799.)

CMS required the Hospital’s governing board to submit a written plan of correction in order to maintain its Medicare and Medi-Cal eligibility. (27 AR 5800.) In preparing its corrective plan, and following a CMS recommendation, the Hospital, among other things, retained outside review companies to look at the Hospital’s peer review processes and assess how it could be improved. (21 AR 4484; 27 AR 5800-5801; 8 CT 1719.)

In contrast to the Hospital’s cooperative response to the CMS investigation, the Hospital’s medical staff objected to the entire assessment procedure. The MEC — comprised of the medical staff’s leadership — complained that the CMS investigators were biased

and demanded that the Hospital's governing board file an objection with the federal government regarding the nature of the CMS investigation and the qualifications of the investigators. (27 AR 5801; see 11 AR 2387.) The governing board declined to do so. (27 AR 5801.) The MEC then demanded that no outside reviewers be used, but the board determined that was not a viable option. (*Ibid.*) The MEC then demanded that it have exclusive control over the selection of any outside auditors. (*Ibid.*; see 9 AR 1837) The board responded that the MEC was free to retain whatever outside auditors it wanted, but the board was likewise going to select its own outside auditors. (27 AR 5801-5802; see 9 AR 1837-1838.)

B. After outside audits corroborate the federal investigation's concerns and also uncover unnecessary and substandard care by Dr. El-Attar, the Hospital's governing board denies his application for reappointment to the medical staff.

In September 2002, the Hospital's board formed an ad hoc committee (AHC), headed by the Hospital's CEO, to oversee the review process and assist the Hospital in reforming the peer review system to meet the CMS requirements.² (21 AR 4484, 27 AR 5806;

² At this point, there was an extremely high level of friction, and no degree of cooperation, between the MEC and the governing board. (27 AR 5802, 5880.) Indeed, about a week after the board formed its AHC and refused to allow the MEC to control the outside auditors, the medical staff voted that it had no confidence in the
(continued...)

see 27 AR 5818, 5864; 8 CT 1719.) The board directed the AHC to obtain outside audits. (21 AR 4485; see 8 CT 1719.) The AHC retained two different medical auditors, The Mercer Company (Mercer) and Hirsch & Associate (Hirsch), to assist the Hospital's quality management department and audit medical cases that had been subjected to peer review at the Hospital. (21 AR 4485-4487; 22 AR 4554, 4556-4557; 23 AR 4835; 27 AR 5802-5803, 5806, 5817; see 9 AR 1822; 8 CT 1719-1720 & fns. 1-2 [statement of decision].)

Reports from Mercer, Hirsch, and the Hospital's own compliance department all identified the medicine and surgery departments as the source of the peer review problems. (11 AR 2422-2425; 21 AR 4487-4490; 27 AR 5804; see 11 AR 2376; 15 AR 3247.) The auditors also raised significant concerns about the quality of care provided in the emergency department. Mercer's audit report identified a pattern of unnecessary treatment where emergency on-call physicians referred patients to each other despite a lack of documented need. (27 AR 5809-5810; see 21 AR 4489-4490 [similar finding from independent review by Hospital's quality management department]; 27 AR 5808-5811 [same], 5906-5908, 5917.)

Based on Mercer's audit report in particular, the AHC identified Dr. Osamah El-Attar, an internist and cardiologist, as one of the on-call physicians who regularly did unnecessary

(...continued)

hospital's CEO and called for his firing. (12 AR 2505; 27 AR 5833-5834; 28 AR 6044; see 9 AR 1866.)

consultations. ³ (11 AR 2432; 21 AR 4488-4489; 23 AR 4835-4837; 27 AR 5811, 5816; see 15 AR 3247; 21 AR 4489-4490 [the Hospital's quality management department's independent review likewise identified a pattern of unnecessary consultations by Dr. El-Attar]; 23 AR 4836-4837, 4854; 27 AR 5811-5812; 28 AR 6034-6037; 8 CT 1719.) Dr. El-Attar had been a member of the Hospital's medical staff since the mid-1970s and had served on many of its committees, including the MEC. (1 AR 2; 27 AR 5790; 28 AR 6009; 32 AR 6921-6922; 1 CT 13-14, 175; 2 CT 271; see RT B-50; 9 AR 1820; 17 AR 3582.) The vast majority of Dr. El-Attar's patients in 2002 came from emergency room consultations, but in 41 percent of those cases there was no documentation of any need for a cardiology consultation. (27 AR 5812, 5816; see 27 AR 5814-5815.)

The AHC was very concerned about this pattern of unjustified emergency consultations because it put patients at risk during unnecessary invasive procedures and because it created potential (and actual) problems with third-party payers such as Medicare and Medi-Cal. ⁴ (27 AR 5812-5813, 5920; see 27 AR 5823.) The AHC therefore requested Mercer and Hirsch to review randomly selected medical records of Dr. El-Attar's patients during the prior three

³ Although Dr. El-Attar practices as an internist and a cardiologist, he is not board certified in either specialty. (34 AR 7571; see RT D-4.) He has taken the board examination in cardiology multiple times since 1976, but has never passed. (34 AR 7569-7571; see 12 AR 2497-2504; 35 AR 7599.)

⁴ A sister hospital had recently paid a \$54 million fine to the federal government after auditors had identified a pattern of unnecessary cardiac procedures and had threatened to revoke the hospital's Medicare eligibility status. (27 AR 5813.)

years, as well as the practices of several other emergency on-call physicians identified by the initial audits. (21 AR 4488-4491; 22 AR 4558; 27 AR 5816-5817, 5921, 5924; see 21 AR 4381, 4492-4493; 27 AR 5925; 28 AR 6042-6043; 4 CT 766, 811; 8 CT 1719.)

The AHC did not select the physician reviewers used by the outside auditors, other than to request that at least two reviewers be used and that reviewers from Southern California not be used, in order to minimize the chance of a reviewer knowing the doctor being reviewed.⁵ (22 AR 4559; 27 AR 5817, 5819; see 21 AR 4493; 23 AR 4912; 27 AR 5819.) Mercer's reviews were performed with no contact between the reviewers and the Hospital. (22 AR 4559, 4563, 4567; 26 AR 5517.)

The Mercer and Hirsch reports on Dr. El-Attar, which the AHC received in January 2003, were highly negative. (9 AR 1856,

⁵ The reviewers Mercer used to audit Dr. El-Attar's practice included three board-certified cardiologists, including (a) a clinical professor and former director of cardiology at University of California, San Francisco, (b) a professor of cardiology at Vanderbilt University Medical Center, and (c) the chief of cardiology at San Francisco General Hospital. (10 AR 2158-2159; 22 AR 4560-4562, 4681; see 8 CT 1720-1721; 10 AR 2179; 11 AR 2214-2216; RT D-54.) The fourth Mercer reviewer was an internal medicine physician who holds three board certifications and teaches as a clinical professor at the University of Arizona College of Medicine. (10 AR 2159, 2197; 22 AR 4561; 26 AR 5516; see 8 CT 1721.)

The reviewer Hirsch selected to audit Dr. El-Attar's charts was board-certified in internal medicine and medical management, the former director of cardiology at Ford Ord U.S. Army Hospital, and the former chief of cardiology and medicine and former president of the medical staff at the University of Minnesota Medical Center. (10 AR 2172; 23 AR 4908-4911.)

1908, 1910, 1914; 10 AR 1972, 2149-2160; 27 AR 5818-5819, 5827; see 21 AR 4493; 8 CT 1721-1722.)

Mercer reported that all 17 of Dr. El-Attar's reviewed cases were "below generally accepted practice standards," including 11 which exhibited "major deficienc[ies] in care." (8 AR 1789-1791, 1797, 1799; 10 AR 1967-1968, 1971, 2151-2152, 2154; 22 AR 4572-4576, 4594, 4598-4599, 4601; 27 AR 5819; see 9 AR 1822-1824; 22 AR 4565.) Mercer also identified 31 instances of medically unnecessary services performed or ordered by Dr. El-Attar (8 AR 1790, 1793; 10 AR 1968-1969, 2151, 2153; 22 AR 4574, 4604, 4616; 27 AR 5822; see 27 AR 5813, 5824-5825), and it identified charting deficiencies in 16 of the 17 cases (8 AR 1789-1790, 1795; 10 AR 1967-1968, 1970, 2151, 2154; 22 AR 4573, 4582; 27 AR 5819, 5824; see 22 AR 4579, 4581, 4721-4722; 27 AR 5825 [the federal government and other third-party payers will not authorize payment for medical services unless the medical record documents a need for such services], 5825, 5900-5901). It also confirmed continual behavior problems by Dr. El-Attar. (8 AR 1792, 1796, 1799; 10 AR 1970, 1972, 2155; 22 AR 4584; 27 AR 5826; see 10 AR 2161; 11 AR 2433; 26 AR 5606-5607, 5643; 27 AR 5783-5789, 5839 [in 1997-1998, Dr. El-Attar went through disciplinary proceedings and a peer review hearing at the Hospital involving a long list of documented behavioral issues], 5826, 5842; 28 AR 6021-6022.)

The Hirsch audit report made similar findings. (9 AR 1908-1914; 27 AR 5827; see 8 CT 1721-1722; RT D-59.) It was critical of Dr. El-Attar's cardiologic care and found his behavior to be unacceptable and unprofessional. (9 AR 1828, 1908, 1910, 1914; 27

AR 5828-5829; see 8 CT 1722; 9 AR 1919, 1951-1952.) The Hirsch report stated that Dr. El-Attar's patients were undergoing risky procedures needlessly, which exposed the Hospital to liability for conspiracy to cheat Medicare and Medi-Cal. (9 AR 1914; 27 AR 5829; see 8 CT 1722.)

Immediately after receiving the Mercer and Hirsch audit reports, the AHC unanimously decided that the only way to protect patients and the Hospital was to summarily suspend Dr. El-Attar and have him removed from the medical staff, which would prevent him from admitting patients to or practicing at the Hospital. (27 AR 5827, 5830-5832; 28 AR 6052; see 27 AR 5820, 5822-5830; 8 AR 1819.) The Hospital board agreed with the AHC's recommendation and, in January 2003, denied Dr. El-Attar's application for reappointment to the medical staff and summarily suspended his clinical privileges. (8 AR 1818-1819; 9 AR 1829, 1835, 1856; 27 AR 5830-5831; see 13 AR 2680.)

C. The MEC confirms that Dr. El-Attar should be granted a review hearing, but delegates to the board the responsibility for conducting the hearing even though the bylaws assign that responsibility to the MEC.

The Hospital's CEO asked the MEC to confirm the board's summary suspension of Dr. El-Attar based on the Mercer and Hirsch reports, but it refused to do so and the suspension thus ended. (9 AR 1820-1829, 1851, 1860, 1862, 1869; 27 AR 5831; 28 AR 5950; see 9 AR 1836 [the MEC questioned why it was not

consulted about selection of outside auditors]; 11 AR 2350 [under the bylaws, the board's summary suspension of Dr. El-Attar terminated when the MEC refused to ratify it]; 13 AR 2674-2676; see also 3 CT 617 [Hospital's letter to Dr. El-Attar stating that his medical staff membership and clinical privileges would continue during his administrative hearing]; 4 CT 766, 811; 8 CT 1723 & fn. 4.) The MEC then formed its own ad hoc committee to review 16 of the Dr. El-Attar cases reviewed by Mercer. (9 AR 1870, 1890; 6 CT 1173-1177; see 9 AR 1841, 1847, 1855.)

The CEO notified Dr. El-Attar of the board's decision to deny his application for reappointment to the medical staff. (9 AR 1871-1872; 13 AR 2677; see 11 AR 2357; 8 CT 1723.) Three weeks later, in March 2003, Dr. El-Attar requested a hearing at the Hospital — called a judicial review hearing — to contest that decision. (9 AR 1875-1876; 13 AR 2685; see 11 AR 2355 [medical staff bylaw]; 8 CT 1723.)

The MEC reviewed the findings of its own ad hoc committee, which agreed that there were documentation problems in Dr. El-Attar's cases, but did not recommend any adverse peer review action. (9 AR 1890-1893.) The MEC then confirmed that Dr. El-Attar should be granted a judicial review hearing regarding the board's denial of his application for reappointment to the medical staff. (9 AR 1890; see 8 CT 1723)

The Hospital's medical staff bylaws state it is the MEC that appoints the physician members of a judicial review committee and

the committee's hearing officer.⁶ (11 AR 2355, 2358-2359, 2361; see Bus. & Prof. Code, § 809.2, subd. (a) [the JRC acts as the trier of fact for peer review].) The MEC decided, however, that, "since the MEC did not summarily suspend [Dr. El-Attar's] privileges, did not recommend any adverse action relating to [Dr. El-Attar] and has not filed any Section 805 report relating to [Dr. El-Attar];⁷ and since the requested hearing would be to review actions by the Governing Board; *it should be the Governing Board and not the MEC which arranges and prosecutes the requested hearing.*" (9 AR

⁶ In pertinent part, the bylaws state: "A hearing occasioned by a . . . Governing Board's recommendation shall be conducted by a Judicial Review Committee appointed by the Medical Executive Committee and composed of at least five (5) members of the Active Staff who shall gain no direct financial benefit from the outcome; who have not acted as accuser, investigator, fact finder, or initial decision maker; and who otherwise have not actively participated in the matter leading up to the recommendation or action Membership on a Judicial Review Committee shall consist of at least one member who shall have the same specialty as the petitioner. All other members shall have M.D. or D.O. degrees." (11 AR 2358-2359.)

The bylaws further state: "The Medical Executive Committee shall appoint a hearing officer to preside at the hearing. The hearing officer may be an attorney at law qualified to preside over a quasi-judicial hearing, but an attorney regularly utilized by the medical center for legal advice regarding its affairs and activities shall not be eligible to serve as hearing officer. The hearing officer shall gain no direct financial benefit from the outcome and must not act as a prosecuting officer or as an advocate." (11 AR 2361.)

⁷ Business and Professions Code section 805, subdivision (b), "requires that hospitals report certain disciplinary actions, including denials of staff privileges, to the [State's] Medical Board . . . [and usually] to the National Practitioner Data Bank" (*Mileikowsky, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 1268.)

1890-1891, emphasis added; 9 AR 1890 [the minutes of the MEC's meeting conclude that: "*the Medical Executive Committee leaves the actions relating to the Judicial Review Hearing procedures to the Governing Board*" (emphasis added)], 1894 [same]; see 8 CT 1723, 1729; RT B-46 to B-47, D-17.)

D. Acting in place of the MEC, the Hospital board's ad hoc committee initiates the review hearing, which affirms the board's decision to deny staff privileges to Dr. El-Attar. The Hospital's appeals board affirms.

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