SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY 29 2012

Frederick K. Onirich Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Osamah A. El-Attar, M.D., Plaintiff and Appellant

VS.

Hollywood Presbyterian Medical Center, Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FOUR, CASE NO. B209056

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS. OF PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT OSAMAH A. EL-ATTAR, M.D.

LURIE, ZEPEDA, SCHMALZ & HOGAN A Professional Corporation KURT L. SCHMALZ, State Bar No. 109834 9107 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 800 Beverly Hills, California 90210-5533 Telephone: (310) 274-8700 Facsimile: (310) 274-2798

Email: kschmalz@lurie-zepeda.com

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

Regulations, when adopted and approved shall be equally binding on the Governing Board and the Medical Staff. Neither the Governing Board nor the Medical Staff can unilaterally amend the Medical Staff Bylaws and its Rules and Regulations." (AR 2414) (emphasis added).

The process for amending the Bylaws is set forth in Article XVII, § A, and requires: (1) a majority vote of a quorum of the Active and Senior Active Staff, at any regular or special meeting of the medical staff; or (2) approval of the amendment by a vote of a majority of the Active and Senior Active medical Staff in a written mail ballot. Accordingly, the MEC could not unilaterally change the Bylaws to delegate its obligation to select the JRC and hearing officer for Dr. El-Attar's hearing without first obtaining a majority vote of the entire medical staff pursuant to Article, XVII, § A, of the Bylaws. (AR 2414). Moreover, the MEC and the Hospital's Governing Board could not agree among themselves to disregard the Bylaws so that the Hospital, instead of the MEC, could select the JRC and hearing officer, without first amending the Bylaws pursuant to Article XVII of the Bylaws.

Finally, even if the MEC and the Hospital's Governing Board agreed to deviate from the Bylaws in selecting the JRC and hearing officer (which they could not lawfully do), such an agreement would not bind Dr. El-Attar to the altered procedure because he did not consent to it. B&P Code § 809.2, subd.(a), provides an option in which the licentiate and the peer review body can agree on one or more arbitrators to act as trier of fact in the hearing. However, this option was not pursued by the MEC or the Hospital in Dr. El-Attar's case. Thus, the MEC's purported delegation of its authority was not only inconsistent with the Bylaws in effect at the time, but also violated Dr. El-Attar's reasonable expectations of how the hearing was to be conducted pursuant to those Bylaws and the peer review law.

D. The Power To Select The Decision-Making Panel And The Hearing Officer Is Not Immaterial And The Hospital's Use Of That Power, In Violation Of The Bylaws, Gave It An Unfair Advantage Over Dr. El-Attar In The Hearing.

The Hospital argues that its violation of the Bylaws in selecting the decision-making JRC and the hearing officer, who makes key decisions on procedure, evidence and conflicts of interest, was immaterial and should not constitute a per se reversible error. Opening Brief at pp. 31-34. However, this violation of the Bylaws by the Hospital's Governing Board, in the words of the Court of Appeal, "undermines the purpose of the peer review mechanism" (El-Attar, at p. 15 (Typed Opinion)) and "jeopardizes the integrity of the hearing from the beginning". (Id., p. 17).

Indeed, it is hard to come to any other conclusion because the power to handpick the decision-makers, not to mention the presiding officer, may be the most significant power exercised by any participant in the proceeding. Far from trivial or immaterial, the requirement in the Bylaws that the MEC select the JRC and hearing officer is at the core of the peer review process and implicates the balance of power between the Hospital administration, on the one hand, and the medical staff, on the other hand.

Moreover, the evidence suggests that the Hospital's reason for taking the selection power away from the MEC was because the Hospital believed that the MEC, which had recommended Dr. El-Attar's reappointment to staff and refused to ratify the Hospital's summary suspension of Dr. El-Attar, would favor Dr. El-Attar in its selection of the JRC and hearing officer. The Hospital also argued in the Court of

The March 12, 2003 minutes of the MEC note that: "it was felt

Appeal that the Governing Board essentially had the right to usurp the MEC's authority to pick the JRC and hearing officer because "any other means of handling the hearing under these circumstances would lead to absurd results, be prejudicial to the Board, and be a waste of everyone's time." Respondent's Brief at p. 15. Indeed, if allowing the MEC to pick the JRC and hearing officer (as required in the Bylaws) was "prejudicial to the [Governing] Board", then having the Hospital Governing Board pick the JRC and hearing officer (in violation of the Bylaws) would be prejudicial to Dr. El-Attar and an improper manipulation of the peer review process.

Ironically, the Hospital seized the MEC's power to appoint the JRC and hearing officer for Dr. El-Attar's peer review hearing because the power to make those appointments was significant and gave it an advantage in the hearing over Dr. El-Attar. The Hospital did not want the MEC, which had made recommendations favorable to Dr. El-Attar, to make these crucial appointments, even thought the Bylaws required the MEC to make those appointments.

The significance of the Hospital administrators having the power to select the decision-making panel and hearing officer for the hearing is obvious. "It should come as no surprise that hospital authorities appoint panel members and hearing officers who are sympathetic to the hospital's position." Merkel, <u>Physicians Policing Physicians: The</u>

that since the MEC did not summarily suspend [Dr. El-Attar]'s privileges, did not recommend any adverse action relating to [Dr. El-Attar] and has not filed any Section 805 report relating to [Dr. El-Attar]; and since the requested hearing would be to review actions by the Governing Board, it should be the Governing Board and not the MEC which arranges and prosecutes the requested hearing." (AR 1890-1891). Interestingly, in the April 9, 2003, minutes, the March 12 minutes were amended to delete the foregoing entry. (AR 1894).

Professor Merkel criticizes a system where the prosecutor can

<u>Development of Medical Staff Peer Review Law at California Hospitals</u> (2003) 38 U.S.F. L.Rev. 301, 331.

Accordingly, the Hospital's violation of the Bylaws with regard to the selection of the JRC and hearing officer was not trivial or immaterial; rather, the Hospital made a strategic decision to seize the MEC's authority to make these selections to gain an advantage over Dr. El-Attar in the peer review hearing. These actions of the Hospital are anathema to the basic concept of a fair hearing.

Indeed, one of the earliest cases to discuss the scope of fair procedure in an administrative hearing under common law declared that the expulsion of members of a fraternal organization was invalid because the rules for how the hearing was to be conducted were arbitrarily suspended. Taboada v. Sociedad Espanola, etc., 191 Cal. 187, 191 (1923) (quoted in Hackethal v. California Medical Association, 138 Cal.App.3d 435, 442, 444-445 (1982)) (holding that the common law fair hearing right was violated by hearing council disregarding its own bylaws regarding burden of proof.). Fair procedure in peer review hearings is determined by whether "the procedures contained in the Bylaws were followed." Smith v. Selma Community Hospital, 164 Cal.App.4th 1478, 1519-1520 (2008). Because the violation of the Bylaws was significant and gave the Hospital an advantage over Dr. El-Attar in the hearing that it did not have under the Bylaws, Dr. El Attar was deprived of the fair hearing to which he was

select the decision makers and hearing officer. While the MEC is frequently the prosecutor of charges, it was not the prosecutor in Dr. El-Attar's case. The Bylaws in place for Dr. El-Attar's hearing gave the authority to the MEC to select the JRC and hearing officer even when (as here) the Hospital became the prosecutor in the hearing instead of the MEC. The Professor's criticism of unfairness is amplified when the Hospital, as prosecutor of charges, seizes the power to appoint the decision-makers and hearing officer from the MEC, even though the Bylaws specifically require the MEC to make those appointments.

entitled under the peer review law, not to mention his common law right to have a fair hearing.

Contrary to the Hospital's argument, giving Dr. El-Attar the ability to question the Hospital's hand-picked JRC members and hearing officer does not cure the inherent unfairness in the Hospital's manipulation of the Bylaws to obtain an advantage. This is especially true when it is the Hospital's handpicked hearing officer who rules on whether he or she or the JRC members are qualified to conduct the hearing and make decisions. Dr. El-Attar is at a distinct disadvantage because he must "risk the wrath of those sitting in judgment by challenging their representation of impartiality." Rosenblit v. Superior Court, 231 Cal.App.3d 1434, 1448 (1991).

As the Court of Appeal in this case aptly noted, "A procedure that enables the Governing Board to tip the scales in its favor, leaving the physician to uncover and cure any potential inequality on his or her own, does not comport with the fair procedure envisioned in the statute or Bylaws." El-Attar, at p. 18 (Typed Opinion). This Court should reject the Hospital's arguments that its violation of the Bylaws was immaterial and did not deprive Dr. El-Attar of a fair peer review hearing.

E. Because A Peer Review Panel Selected By The Hospital (Instead of MEC) In Violation of the Bylaws Is Not "Properly Constituted", Dr. El-Attar Is Entitled To A New Peer Review Hearing With A Properly Selected Panel And Hearing Officer.

Because the Hospital, as opposed to the MEC, appointed the peer review panel in violation of the Bylaws, it logically follows that this decision-making panel was "improperly constituted" at the outset of Dr. El-Attar's hearing and resulted in a hearing that did not meet the requirements of fair procedure. Dr. El-Attar's subsequent hearing before an Appeal

Board, also consisting of members selected by the Hospital's Governing Board, did not cure the unfairness. Indeed, Dr. El-Attar never received a hearing by any actual "peer review body", as that term is defined in B&P Code §805, subd. (a)(1), subparts (A)-(D) 12. A review panel appointed by the Hospital's Governing Board was not the MEC, or a committee of the MEC, created for peer review at the Hospital. 13

All levels of the review of Dr. El-Attar's case, from denial of staff reappointment to the final decision by the Governing Board, involved panels either handpicked by the Hospital or consisting of members of the Hospital's Governing Board. Thus, the Hospital's manipulation of the Bylaws created a system designed to remove the MEC – the actual peer review body – from the peer review process. Such a system was not legitimate and stacked the deck in favor of the Hospital, which wanted to exclude the MEC because it disagreed with the MEC's findings that were favorable to Dr. El-Attar. However, "decisions relating to clinical privileges are generally the province of a hospital's peer review bodies and

This statutory definition of "peer review body" includes the medical staff of a health care facility (B&P Code §805, subd.(a)(1)(A)) or any "committee" set up by an entity "for the purpose of reviewing the quality of professional care" by members or employees of the entity. (B&P Code §805, subd.(a)(1)(D)). At the Hospital, the MEC, or the committees it creates, clearly functioned as the statutory "peer review body." The Governing Board, or committees of that Board, was not the peer review body at the Hospital.

California opted out of the federal HCQIA, in part, because the federal law permitted the peer review hearing to be determined by the health care entity rather than the "peer review body". Significantly, California's legislation required that the peer review hearing be determined by the peer review body. See Legislative Comparison of SB1211, Current Law, and HCQIA, at p. 1 (Appendix II B). Given the legislative intent behind California's peer review law, the Hospital could not have lawfully bypassed the MEC, which was the designated peer review body, to create its own pseudo "peer review body" to review Dr. El-Attar's case.

not its governing board" (Mileikowsky, 45 Cal.4th at 1275), so it was improper for the MEC not to participate in the process, even when the Hospital initiated and prosecuted the charges.

The Hospital had the right under the Bylaws, and pursuant to B&P Code § 809.05, to prosecute charges against its physicians in the peer review process. The Hospital, however, was not allowed to hijack the peer review process and skew it against the physician by removing the medical staff's executive committee from the process. Both the Bylaws (Art. VII, § F) and B&P Code § 809.05 (b), require the Governing Board first to consult with the MEC before initiating corrective action against the physician, and when the Board initiates such corrective action, it "must comply with Articles VII and VIII of these Bylaws." (Art. VII, § F). Article VIII, § C, requires the MEC to appoint the JRC and hearing officer, even when the Hospital initiates the corrective action.

As this Court recognized in Mileikowsky, "although a hospital's administrative governing body makes the ultimate decision about whether to grant or deny staff privileges, it does so based on the recommendation of its medical staff committee [citation omitted], giving 'great weight to the actions of peer review bodies ...' [citation omitted] Here the board gave no weight to the actions of any peer review body."

Mileikowsky, 45 Cal.4th at 1273 (emphasis in original). The situation in Dr. El-Attar's case is similar. By removing the MEC from Dr. El-Attar's peer review hearing, the Hospital gave no weight to the MEC's recommendations.

A JRC selected by the Hospital, instead of being selected by the MEC, cannot be a properly constituted "peer review body", not only because the selection violated the Bylaws, but the system created by the Hospital eliminated the Hospital's peer review body from the peer review process. The Hospital's Governing Board cannot lawfully remove the

MEC from the peer review process. Nor can the MEC purport to delegate its authority to participate in the peer review process to the Hospital's Governing Board. Thus, the panel created by the Hospital for Dr. El-Attar's hearing was improperly constituted.

Moreover, the evidence showed that the Hospital's handpicked panel gave no consideration to the MEC's recommendation that Dr. El-Attar not face disciplinary charges and that his staff privileges be renewed. The JRC improperly deferred to the Hospital Governing Board's decision to terminate Dr. El-Attar's staff privileges rather than giving "great weight" to the recommendations of the MEC as "the peer review body." Mileikowsky, 45 Cal.4th at 1272.

In its written decision, the JRC found that the Governing Board's non-renewal of Dr. El-Attar's staff privileges "was reasonable and warranted", but the panel noted that "it would have pursued an intermediate resolution had it been the initial decision maker." (AR 3736, 3743). The JRC's deferral to the Governing Board, without giving any weight to the recommendations of the MEC as the actual peer review body, is problematic and suggests that the JRC did not make a truly independent review of the evidence. The JRC's deference to the Governing Board, rather than the MEC, is undoubtedly derived from the fact that the Hospital's Governing Board selected the members of that panel. Given how the JRC was selected, it was clear that the panel could not, and did not, give Dr. El-Attar the kind of peer review hearing he was entitled to under the Bylaws and the peer review law. Indeed, in refusing to renew Dr. El-Attar's staff privileges and bringing charges against him, the Hospital disregarded the MEC and gave its recommendations no weight. "This procedure violated both the letter and the underlying principles of the statutory peer review process." Mileikowsky, 45 Cal.4th at 1272.

The Hospital argues here that without Dr. El-Attar making a

showing of bias or a direct financial interest in the outcome of the hearing by one or more of the JRC members, the panel was properly constituted (despite the Bylaw violations) and Dr. El-Attar is not entitled to a new hearing. The Hospital further argues that because bias cannot be presumed and the hearing officer made some rulings in favor of Dr. El-Attar, there is no proof that the hearing was unfair and any errors in the selection of the panel and hearing officer were "harmless." Dr. El-Attar, the Hospital argues, was represented by counsel, who was able to voir dire the panel for bias and present witnesses and evidence on his behalf in a lengthy hearing. In essence, the Hospital argues that the hearing is presumed to be fair, despite the Bylaw violations in the selection of the JRC and hearing officer.

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